IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

NO 94-50141
Summary Cal endar

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA, Pl ai ntiff-Appell ee,
ver sus
RUPERT HAYS, Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court for the
Western District of Texas
(SA-93-CR-62-1)

February 2, 1995
Before SMTH, EM LIO M GARZA, and PARKER, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM:

Def endant - Appel | ant Rupert Hays ("Hays") pl eaded guilty to one
count of conspiracy to commt bank fraud in violation of 18 U S. C
§ 371 and one count of bank fraud and aiding and abetting in
violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 1344(a)(1l) and 18 U. S.C. 2. He appeals
the restitution order inposed by the district court at sentencing.
We affirm

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HI STORY
On March 12, 1993, Hays, along with ten ot her individuals, was

Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions
t hat have no precedential value and nerely decide particular
cases on the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes
needl ess expense on the public and burdens on the |egal
pr of ession. "
Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



named in a 33-count indictnment. Hays was charged in 24 of the 33
counts. Three additional counts were added by a superseding
indictment. On Septenber 20, 1993, Hays pleaded guilty to counts
one and seven.

Pursuant to the witten terns of the plea agreenent, Hays
agreed "to make restitution in an anount to be determ ned by the
Court for any | osses caused by [his] activities at Victoria Savi ngs
Associ ation, and [he] further agree[d] to nmake such restitution as
a condition of [his] supervised release if so ordered by the
Court.™ At rearraignnment, the court cautioned Hays that his
sentence could include a requirenent that he pay several mllion
dollars in restitution.

I n the presentence i nvestigation report ("PSR"), the probation
of ficer found that Hays caused Victoria Saving Associ ation ("VSA")
and its subsidiary to expend $1.216 mllion by creating a "rabb
trust"! and purchasing an annuity to provi de deferred conpensation
for Hays's benefit. At the tinme of the purchase VSA was under a
supervisory agreenent not to directly or indirectly increase
executive conpensation. However, at Hays's request, the Board of
Directors of VSA and its subsidiaries voted to provide himw th an
annuity that woul d pay hi m$150, 000. 00 per year for |ife, beginning
at age 55, with $100, 000 annual benefit to his wife for her life if
he predeceased her.

Al t hough the purchase of the annuity was not the subject of

! Arabbi trust is a grantor trust with significant tax
advant ages because both the initial paynent and the interest
earned on the trust are taxable to the enpl oyer.
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Hays's indictnment, the probation officer concluded it represented
a fraudul ent act on Hays's part, resulting in a substantial | oss of
cash at a tinme VSA was experiencing deterioration in the quality of
assets. The probation officer also noted that if the Court were to
determ ne that the annuity was obtai ned fraudul ently, Hays coul d be
ordered to waive any claimto the present value of the annuity and
convey the annuity back to the RTC, VSA's conservator.

Hays objected to the inclusion of the rabbi trust in the PSR
He al |l eged that the rabbi trust involved a civil matter irrel evant
tothe crimnal indictnent, that it was not created by a fraudul ent
act, and that it was irrelevant to the preparation of the PSR

At sentencing, the district court found that the rabbi trust
was fraudulently obtained and included it in the restitution

order.? Hays was subsequently sentenced to 41 nonths i nprisonnent

2 |n the judgnent and commitnent order, the court made the
follow ng specific findings regarding the rabbi trust held by
Hays:

The Court finds that the defendant, by his
activities, caused additional loss to Victoria Savings
Associ ation by causing Victoria Savings Association to
expend $1.216 mllion to create a rabbi trust and to
purchase an annuity for defendant's exclusive benefit
to provide himw th deferred conpensation for the rest
of his life. The Court finds that the defendant caused
Victoria Savings Association to take these actions for
his benefit at a tine when Victoria Savings Associ ation
was operating under a supervisory agreenent not to
directly or indirectly increase executive conpensati on.

The Court finds that the defendant agreed in his
pl ea bargain agreenent to nmake restitution for any
| osses caused by his activities at Victoria Savings
Association. In return for this promse, the United
States Attorney agreed not to prosecute the defendant
for any other offenses set forth in the superseding
i ndictnment or for any other fraudulent acts conmtted
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and three years of supervised release. The court inposed
$25, 000. 00 fi ne and ordered that Hays be held jointly and severally
l'iable with other defendants to pay $26, 333,487.00 in restitution.
He was al so ordered to pay the then-present value of the annuity
held in the rabbi trust ($1, 800, 000.00) as partial paynent of the
total restitution of $26, 333, 487.
ANALYS| S3

Hays contends that the district court illegally included the
rabbi trust inits restitution order even though the trust was not
listed in the indictnment or otherw se involved in Hays's conspiracy
to defraud VSA. The question whether restitution may be awarded in
a particular case is a legal question and is reviewed de novo.
United States v. Chaney, 964 F.2d 437, 451 (5th GCr. 1992). The
quantumis reviewed for abuse of discretion. I1d. at 451-52. Title
18 U.S.C. 8§ 3663 authorizes federal courts, when sentencing
defendants convicted of certain offenses, to order "that the
defendant nmake restitution to any victim of such offense.”
Cenerally, restitutionis limted to | osses caused by the specific
conduct underlying the of fense of conviction.*

Nevert hel ess, pursuant to 8 3663(a)(3) a sentencing court may

by the defendant which relate to Victoria Savings
Associ ation or its subsidiaries or affiliates.

3 Hays waived his right to appeal his sentence; however,
that waiver applied only to his sentence of inprisonnent. The
gover nnent does not dispute that the waiver does not apply to the
order of restitution.

4 See United States v. Stouffer, 986 F.2d 916, 928 (5th
Cir.), cert. denied, _ US __ , 114 S .. 115, 126 L.Ed.2d 80



“order restitution in any crimnal case to the extent agreed to by
the parties in a plea agreenent.'" United States v. Stout, 32 F. 3d
901, 905 n.5 (5th Cr. 1994); see also United States v. Arnold, 947
F.2d 1236, 1237-38 (5th Gr. 1991) (defendant agreed to pay
$669, 390 in restitution in plea agreement).

Hays agreed to nake restitution in an anmount to be determ ned
by the court for any |osses caused by his activities at VSA. In
consideration for his prom se, the governnent agreed to refrain
from prosecuting Hays for any other offenses giving rise to the
indictnment, or resulting fromany fraudul ent acts commtted by him
related to VSA. The Tenth Crcuit's decision in United States v.
Thonpson, 39 F.3d 1103 (10th G r. 1994), is instructive on this
point. The Court in Thonpson held that, pursuant to 8 3663(a)(3),
when t he defendant "knowi ngly bargains to make full restitution in
exchange for di sm ssal of other pending counts of an indictnent, it
shoul d be presuned the bargain was nmade with its consequences in
mnd." Id. at 1105.° Considering the governnment's agreenent not to
pursue convictions for Hays's other fraudulent activities, we nust
concl ude that Hays considered the financial burden a fair exchange
for the penal advantage gai ned.

Hays argues, however, that his restitution agreenent was

5> See United States v. Marsh, 932 F.2d 710, 712-13 (8th
Cir. 1991) (plea agreenent provided for restitution of ful
anmount of loss to victins); United States v. Soderling, 970 F.2d
529, 532-34 (9th Cr. 1992) (defendant could be ordered to pay
restitution for |osses stemm ng from of fenses other than of fenses
of conviction, if defendant agreed to such in the plea
agreenent), cert. denied, = US |, 113 S. C. 2446, 124 L.Ed.2d
663 (1993).



nullified by the follow ng provision of the plea agreenent:

It is understood and accepted that the binding terns of

this agreenent under Rule 11(e)(1)(C govern only the

sentence of inprisonnent. Any order of restitution, fine

and the terns of supervised rel ease shall be left to the

di scretion of the Court, and each party to this agreenent

reserves the right to advocate any position with respect

to these issues.

The above provision i medi ately precedes the provision addressing
restitution, which reads: "I agree to nmake restitution in an
anount to be determ ned by the Court for any |osses caused by ny
activities at Victoria Savings Association, and | further agree to
make such restitution as a condition of ny supervised release if so
ordered by the Court."

Pl ea agreenents are contractual in nature and are construed
accordingly. United States v. Asset, 990 F.2d 208, 215 n.6 (5th
Cir. 1993). Construing the provision regardi ng Hays's i npri sonnent
as nullifying his promse to pay restitution for the | osses caused
by his activities violates the presunption that parties intend
every clause to have sone effect.® At the tine he entered into the
agreenent, Hays understood that the restitution order could require
him to pay back several mllion dollars.” At the tinme that he

entered the guilty plea, the interest earned on the rabbi trust was

being paid into the registry of the district court. Thus, Hays

6 See Chapman v. Orange Rice MIling Co., 747 F.2d 981, 983
(5th Cir. 1984) (this Court exanmines the ""entire witing in an
effort to harnonize and give effect to all the provisions of the
contract so that none will be rendered neaningless.'" (citation
omtted)).

" See Asset, 990 F.2d at 216 (the agreenent is judged
according to the defendant's reasonabl e understanding at the tine
he entered the plea).



cannot contend that the possibility that the restitution order
could include the rabbi trust was beyond his reasonable
understanding at the tinme he entered his guilty plea.

Hays next contends that his due process rights were violated
because the rabbi trust was included in the restitution order
W t hout a hearing concerning whether it was fraudul ently obtai ned.
Title 18 U.S.C. § 3663 does not require a separate hearing in order
for the district court to determ ne whether restitution should be
ordered and the amount thereof. United States v. Rochester, 898
F.2d 971, 981 (5th Gr. 1990). Hays raised his objections to the
paynment of the rabbi trust as restitution in his objections to the
PSR. The district court heard argunents from both Hays and the
governnent concerning availability of the trust. Therefore, we
find that Hays received all of the process he was due.?

Hays next contends that the district court failed to consider
his ability to pay restitution. In inposing a restitution order,
the district court "shall consider the amount of the | oss sustai ned
by any victimas a result of the offense, the financial resources
of the defendant, the financial needs and earning ability of the
def endant and t he def endant's dependents, and such ot her factors as
the court deens appropriate.” 18 U S.C. § 3664(a).

An order of restitution will be reversed on appeal

only when the defendant shows that it is probable that

the court failed to consider a mandatory factor and the

failure to consider the mandatory factor influenced the

court. The Court's failure to follow the statutory
requi renents is reviewed for abuse of discretion.

8 Rochester, 898 F.2d at 981.
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United States v. Reese, 998 F.2d 1275, 1280-81 (5th Gr. 1993)
(internal citation omtted). The defendant bears the burden of
show ng that he | acks the financial ability to pay restitution. 18
U S.C. § 3664(d).

Sentencing courts are required to consider a defendant's
ability to pay but are not required to nake explicit findings on
that issue. United States v. Barndt, 913 F.2d 201, 204 (5th Gr.
1990). In this case, Hays did not object to the findings of the
probation officer concerning Hays's ability to repay restitution,
whi ch the district court adopted. Under these circunstances, the
court was not required to iterate these findings onthe record. See
United States v. Mtchell, 876 F.2d 1178, 1183 (5th GCr. 1989).

Hays's final contention is that the district court abused its
discretionininposing the restitution anount. The court hel d Hays
to be jointly and severally liable with five other defendants to
pay $26, 333,487 in restitution.

The defendant bears the burden of showi ng that he | acks the
financial ability to pay restitution. 18 U S. C. 8§ 3664(d). A
defendant's "indigency at the tinme restitutionis ordered is not a
bar to the requirenent of restitution.” United States v. Ryan, 874
F.2d 1052, 1054 (5th Gr. 1989); see also United States .
Stafford, 896 F.2d 83, 84 (5th Cr. 1990). In Ryan, we adopted the
reasoning of other <circuits in cases involving significant
restitution orders and indigent defendants:

[ T] he Victi mand Wtness Protection Act does not prohibit

restitution in such instances; and a defendant's

financial situation may well change in the future, making

hi mable to pay sone if not all the restitution ordered.
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Even sone paynent in the future, no matter how m ni scul e

it mght beinrelationto the victims |loss, would be in

keeping with the phil osophy of the Act.
874 F.2d at 1054.

The probation officer noted in the PSR that, although Hays had
a negative net worth, he did have sone |iquid assets, including
| RAs and bank accounts. The PSR al so noted that Hays had been
quite successful in his professional endeavors, which included his
position as senior nmanager for North Anmerican Financial
Corporation; president, CEO and director of VSA, president of
Sessions Mrtgage Conpany; and his involvenent in industrial
devel opnent for the Corpus Christi, Texas, Chanber of Commerce.
Based on Hays's tax returns, the PSR Iisted the foll ow ng earnings:
$487, 760 in 1989, $547,121 in 1990, $175,114 in 1991, and $123, 344
in 1992.

Consi dering Hays's proven earnings ability, the relief that
may result because the restitution is shared severally as well as
jointly, and the likelihood that Hays m ght nake sone paynent in
the future, we find that the district court did not abuse his
di scretion.

CONCLUSI ON

For the reasons articul ated above, the sentence i nposed by the

district court is AFFl RVED



